
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

DALLAS DIVISION 
  

EDGAR BERNARD JACOBS, On Behalf of § 
Himself and All Others Similarly Situated, § 
       § 
  Plaintiff(s),         § 

               § 
            §  CIVIL ACTION NO:______________ 
v.            §     
            § 
       §  JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
RUSHMORE LOAN MANAGEMENT          §  
SERVICES, LLC          §     
                                §     
  Defendant.         §     

         

ORIGINAL COMPLAINT  
COLLECTIVE ACTION  

 
SUMMARY 

1. Rushmore Loan Management Services, LLC (“Defendant”) is a national 

residential mortgage loan servicer of performing, re-performing and non-performing 

loans, as well as a national wholesale loan originator.   

2. Defendant is licensed in all fifty (50) states, the District of Columbia, and 

Puerto Rico.  

3. Edgar Bernard Jacobs (“Plaintiff”) was employed by Defendant as an Asset 

Resolution Specialist. 

4. During Plaintiff’s employment with Defendant, Defendant required Plaintiff 

to perform the essential duties and responsibilities of a Call Center Customer Service 

Representative during the workweek. 
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5. Defendant also required other Asset Resolution Specialists to perform the 

essential duties and responsibilities of a Call Center Customer Service Representative 

during the workweek. 

6. Defendant required Plaintiff and other Asset Resolution Specialists to 

continue performing the essential duties and responsibilities of a Call Center Customer 

Service Representative on weekends, in excess of a 40 hour workweek. 

7. Defendant did not pay Plaintiff and other Asset Resolution Specialists 

overtime for work, performing the essential duties and responsibilities of a Call Center 

Customer Service Representative on weekends, in excess of a 40 hour workweek.  

8. Plaintiff brings this collective action on his own behalf, and on behalf of other 

similarly situated current and former Asset Resolution Specialists employed by Defendant 

who may opt-in to this lawsuit, for damages and other legal and equitable relief from 

Defendant’s violations of the laws requiring payment of overtime compensation. 

9. Defendant terminated Plaintiff’s employment within one week of Plaintiff 

complaining to Defendant about Plaintiff having to work in excess of a 40 hour workweek, 

performing the essential duties and responsibilities of a Call Center Customer Service 

Representative, without compensation. 

10. Plaintiff also seeks relief on behalf of himself due to Defendant’s retaliatory 

discharge of him in violation of 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 11. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 

29 U.S.C. § 216(b).   
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 12. Venue is proper in the Northern District of Texas because a substantial 

portion of the events giving rise to the cause of action alleged herein occurred in this 

District and Division, and Defendant does a significant percentage of its business in this 

District. 

PARTIES AND PERSONAL JURISDICTION 

 13. Plaintiff is an individual residing in Dallas County, Texas.  Plaintiff’s written 

consent to this action is attached as Exhibit “A.” 

 14. The Class Members are all current and former employees of Defendant who 

work, or have worked, for Defendant as an Asset Resolution Specialist, who may opt-in 

to this lawsuit. 

 15. Defendant, Rushmore Loan Management Services, LLC, is registered in 

Texas as a Foreign Limited Liability Company that may be served with process through 

its registered agent: Corporation Service Company d/b/a CSC-Lawyer’s Incorporating 

Service Company at 211 E. 7th Street, Suite 620, Austin, TX 78701. 

FLSA COVERAGE 

 16. At all material times, Defendant is an “employer” as to Plaintiff, and/or to the 

Class Members, within the meaning 29 U.S.C. § 203(d) of the FLSA. 

 17. At all material times, Defendant is an “enterprise” within the meaning of 29 

U.S.C. § 203(r) of the FLSA. 

 18. At all material times, Defendant has been an enterprise engaged in 

commerce, or in the production of goods for commerce, within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. 

§ 203(s)(1) of the FLSA, because Defendant has had and continues to have employees 

engaged in commerce.  
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19. Further, Defendant has had, and continues to have, an annual gross income 

of sales made or business done of not less than $500,000. 

 20. At all material times, Plaintiff and Class Members were individual 

employees who are and were employed by Defendant as Asset Resolution Specialists, 

and who are and were engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce 

as required by 29 U.S.C. § 206-207. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 21. Plaintiff and Class Members were and are employed by Defendant as an 

Asset Resolution Specialist (“ARS”).  

22. ARS is a non-supervisory position. 

 23. During Plaintiff and Class Members’ regular 40 hour workweek, Defendant 

required Plaintiff and Class Members to be logged into a Predictive Dialer 6 – 8 hours per 

day, receiving and handling inbound calls.   

 24. Receiving and handling inbound calls within the Predictive Dialer is one 

essential duty and responsibility of a Call Center Customer Service Representative. 

 25. During Plaintiff and Class Members’ regular 40 hour workweek, and while 

logged into the Predictive Dialer receiving and handling inbound call, Plaintiff and Class 

Members were also required by Defendant to: a) perform welcome calls on newly 

acquired loans; b) document and update information in Fidelity MSP; c) assist borrowers 

with general inquiries; d) process routine transactions: promise to pay, internet 

assistance, ACH; e) assist customers with general inquiries regarding: insurance, taxes 

and escrow; and f) conduct light skip tracing to locate borrowers; which are all essential 

duties and responsibilities of a Call Center Customer Service Representative. 
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 26. Employees of Defendant who work as a Call Center Customer Service 

Representative are entitled to overtime pay. 

 27. In addition to working a 40 hour workweek, and while employed as an ARS, 

Defendant also required Plaintiff and Class Members to “volunteer” one Saturday of each 

month, from 8am to Noon, to continue receiving and handling inbound calls within the 

Predictive Dialer. 

 28. Although Plaintiff and Class Members were required to work more than 40 

hours per workweek, they were not compensated at the FLSA mandated time-and-a-half 

rate for hours worked in excess of 40 hours per workweek. 

 29. Plaintiff and Class Members were paid a flat rate for all hours worked, 

regardless of the number of hours actually worked. 

 30. As part of its normal practice, Defendant circulated a sign-up list for ARS’s 

to “volunteer” to work from 8AM – Noon.   

31. Plaintiff did not sign up to “volunteer” to work on Saturday, August 20, 2016.   

32. Defendant terminated Plaintiff’s employment on or about August 26, 2016. 

 33. Within 14 calendar days of Plaintiff’s termination, Defendant revised the 

Hours of Operation stated in its Employee Policies and Procedures Manual, to read that 

its “core business hours” include “8:00AM – Noon on Saturday.” 

 

COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

 34. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 207, Plaintiff seeks to prosecute his FLSA claim, 

stated in Count I below, as a collective action on behalf of all persons who were/are 

employed by Defendant as an Asset Resolution Specialist, at any time during the three-
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year period preceding the filing of this complaint.  Plaintiff and the Class Members are 

similarly situated and are/were subject to Defendant’s company-wide policy of failing and 

refusing to pay overtime to Asset Resolution Specialists. 

COUNT I 

FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME COMPENSATION IN VIOLATION OF 
29 United States Code § 207(a)(1) 

 
35. Plaintiff re-alleges the information contained in Paragraphs 1 through 34 of 

this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

36. Defendant has engaged in a general practice of failing to pay overtime 

compensation to Plaintiff and Class Members. 

37. Defendant’s failure to compensate current and former Asset Resolution 

Specialists for overtime violates the overtime compensation requirements of the FLSA, 

29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1). 

38. Defendant knew, had reason to know, or recklessly disregarded that its 

failure to pay overtime compensation to Plaintiff and to Class Members for all hours 

worked in excess of 40 hours in any workweek constituted a violation of the overtime 

compensation requirements of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1).  Such violation is willful 

under the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

39. Plaintiff has actual knowledge that Class Members have also been denied 

overtime pay for hours worked over 40 hours in a week as a result of Defendant’s 

misclassification of its employees. 

 40. Although Defendant permitted, and/or requires the Plaintiff and Class 

Members to work in excess of 40 hours per workweek, Defendant has improperly 
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classified class members as “exempt” employees under the FLSA and denied them 

compensation for their hours worked in excess of 40 hours in a workweek. 

 41. No FLSA exemption applies to Plaintiff and to Class Members. 

 42. The Class Members perform or have performed the same or similar work in 

the provision of services to clients of Defendant. 

COUNT II 

RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF FLSA 
29 United States Code § 215(a)(3) 

 
 43. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates the allegations contained in Paragraphs 

1 through 42, as if fully stated herein. 

 44. Defendant terminated Plaintiff after Plaintiff complained to Defendant about 

its continued willful misclassification of Plaintiff under the FLSA, and Defendant’s 

continued failure to pay Plaintiff for overtime hours worked.  Plaintiff’s complaint falls 

within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3). Defendant’s actions are unlawful under the 

FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3). 

 45. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful retaliation, Plaintiff has suffered and will 

continue to suffer, actual damages in the form of lost wages (wages and bonuses) and 

lost employment benefits for which he hereby sues. 

 46. As a further result of Defendant’s actions, Plaintiff has also suffered non-

pecuniary losses, including but not limited to, emotion pain, suffering, inconvenience, 

mental anguish, and loss of enjoyment of life. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to 

compensatory damages under 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

 47. Plaintiff sues for liquidated damages under 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 
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 48. Defendant’s actions were done with malice and/or reckless indifference to 

Plaintiff’s federally protected rights. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to punitive damages for 

which he hereby sues. 

 49. Reinstatement is not feasible. 

 50. Plaintiff also seeks attorney’s fees, and costs of suit under 29 U.S.C. § 

216(b). 

JURY DEMAND 

 51. Plaintiff and Class Members hereby demand trial by jury on all issues. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff asks that Defendant be cited to appear and answer and, 

upon trial on the merits, that the Court award the following: 

 52. Collective Remedies 

  a. That collective action opt-in procedures be adopted with respect to 

the collective claims asserted under the FLSA. 

  b. That the practice of Defendant complained of herein be adjudged, 

decreed and declared to be in violation of the rights of Plaintiff and the Class Members 

under the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 206, et seq. 

  c. That judgment be entered in favor of Plaintiff and the Class Members 

against Defendant for all unpaid overtime compensation and additional equal amounts as 

liquidated damages, all in amounts to be established at trial. 

  d. For entry of Order enjoining Defendant and its agents and employees 

from subjecting Class Members to any acts of retaliation for prior actions, or for brining or 

participating in this action. 
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  e. That the Court order Defendant to pay counsel for the Plaintiff and 

the Class Members’ reasonable attorney’s fees and the costs and expenses of this action. 

  f. That Plaintiff and the Class Members be awarded such other and 

further relief as may be found appropriate, just and/or equitable. 

 53. Non-Collective Remedies. 

  a. Declare that Defendant terminated Plaintiff in retaliation for filing 

FLSA complaint(s) in violation of Plaintiff’s rights and Defendant’s obligations under 29 

U.S.C. § 215(a)(3). 

  b. Award Plaintiff judgment against Defendant for: 

i. Actual damages, including lost wages and benefits; 
   ii. Compensatory damages; 
   iii. Liquidated damages; 
   iv. Punitive and/or exemplary damages; 
   v. Prejudgment and post-judgment interest; 
   vi. Costs of suit; 
   vii. Attorney’s fees; and 
   viii. All other relief the Court deems appropriate. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Stephen E. Jones 
       Stephen E. Jones 
       State Bar of Texas No. 24043744 

Law Offices of Stephen E. Jones, P.C. 
       P. O. Box 222232 
       Dallas, TX 75222-2232 
       Telephone: (214) 796-0011 
       Facsimile:   (469) 374-8244 
       stephen.jones@sejpc.com    
        

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF  

                                                                                         
 Case 3:16-cv-03059-L   Document 1   Filed 11/01/16    Page 9 of 9   PageID 9



CONSENT TO BECOME A PARTY PLAINTIFF

-----
Name: &1jarL & r (/ it ((1 J It. ~ b.5

1. I consent and agree to pursue my claims of unpaid overtime and/or minimum wage
through the lawsuit filed against my former employer, Rushmore Loan
Management, Services, LLC.

2. I understand that this lawsuit is brought to recover unpaid wages under the Fair
Labor Standards Act and/or any applicable state laws. I hereby consent, agree and
opt-in to become a plaintiff herein and be bound by any judgment by the Court or
any settlement of this action.

3. I intend to pursue my claim individually, unless and until the court certifies this case
as a collective or class action. I agree to serve as the class representative if the
court approves. If someone else serves as the class representative, the I designate
the class representatives as my agents to make decisions on my behalf concerning
the litigation, the method and manner of conducting the litigation, the entering of
an agreement with plaintiffs counsel concerning attorney's fees and costs, and all
other matters pertaining to this lawsuit.

4. In the event the case is certified and then decertified, I authorize Plaintiff's counsel
to use this Consent Form to re-file my claims in a separate or related action against
Rushmore Loan Management Services, LLC.

Date Signed i tJ " ? s-- 2o)~

~ PLAINTIFF'S
~ EXHIBIT
~ A
~
~

CONSENT FORM TO JOIN AS PLAINTIFF IN FLSA CLAIM AGAINST RUSHMORE LOAN MANAGEMENT, SERVICES,LLC
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